
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

 

May 17, 2016  5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
A) Proclamation presented to the City of Statesboro Department of Public Works & 

Engineering recognizing the week of May 15 - 21, 2016 as "Public Works Week". 
Also, short video will be presented. 

B) Proclamation recognizing May 15-21, 2016 as “National Police Week”. 
C) Proclamation honoring service to the City of Statesboro 
D) Presentation by Wesley Parker, City Tree Board Chairman, regarding an update on 

activities of the Tree Board. 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-03-2016 Council Minutes 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Coastal Workforce Investment Board “Youth 
Summer Work Program” Workforce Experience Agreement. 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to approve a rental agreement between the Mayor and City 
Council of Statesboro and the Averitt Center for the Arts, Inc. for certain real property 
located at 58 East Main Street, Statesboro, Georgia 30458. 
    

8. Consideration for a Motion to award a Contract to Tyson Utilities Construction, Inc. in 
the amount of $1,108,897.93 for the installation of Utility Infrastructure for Phase 3, I-
16/U.S. 301. Project is to be funded from 2013 SPLOST proceeds. 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Mayor to enter into negotiations and to be 
approved to sign a contract with AMEC Foster Wheeler for engineering services 
for CIP number NGD-2 (US 301 Ogeechee River High-Pressure Natural Gas Pipeline 
Installation). Engineering services is funded out of the $1,200,000.00 budgeted for this 
complete project.  
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract extension for auditing services to the 
accounting firm of  Lanier, Westerfield, Deal and Proctor for one (1) additional year at a 
rate of $42,000. If approved, this contract will cover auditing services for fiscal year 
2016. 
 



 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-20: A Resolution to appoint 
Darren Prather to the Board of Directors of the Averitt Center for the Arts, Inc. 
 

12. Other Business from City Council 
 

13. City Managers Comments 
 

14. Public Comments (General) 
A) Lamar Webb to address Council with regards to Park Place 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”  
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 

A Proclamation by the Mayor and  

City Council of Statesboro, Georgia  
 

Public Works Week  
 
 

WHEREAS,  public works services provided in our community are an integral part of our citizens’ everyday 
lives; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the support of an understanding and informed citizenry is vital to the efficient operation of public 

works systems and programs such as engineering services, building inspections, solid waste 
collection and disposal, street maintenance, stormwater infrastructure maintenance, park and 
cemetery maintenance, building maintenance, and fleet maintenance; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the health, safety, and quality of life of this community greatly depends on these services and 

facilities; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the quality and effectiveness of these services and facilities, as well as their planning, design, 

construction and management, is vitally dependent upon the efforts and skill of public works 
personnel; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who staff the Public Works & Engineering 

Department are materially influenced by the public’s attitude and understanding of the 
importance of the work they perform; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  in honor of National Public Works Week, sponsored by the American Public Works Association, it is 

most appropriate that we recognize the service of the Public Works & Engineering Department 
personnel of the City of Statesboro; now, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE,  I, Jan J. Moore, Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby proclaim the week of May 15 through 

May 21, 2016 as “Public Works Week” in the City of Statesboro; and, further extend appreciation 
to our public works personnel for the vital services they perform and their exemplary dedication to 
this community; and, call upon all citizens to acquaint themselves with the matters involved in 
providing our public works services and to recognize the contributions which our public works 
personnel make every day to our health, safety, comfort, and quality of life. 

 
      Passed and adopted this 17th day of May, 2016. 

  
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 ________________________ 

 Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

  



 

A Proclamation by the Mayor and  

City Council of Statesboro, Georgia 
NATIONAL POLICE WEEK   

WHEREAS, there are approximately 900,000 law enforcement officers serving in communities across 
the United States, including the dedicated members of the STATESBORO POLICE 
DEPARTMENT; and 

 
WHEREAS, the United States Congress and President of the United States have designated May 15 as 

Peace Officers Memorial Day, and the week   in which it falls as National Police Week, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the officers and staff of the STATESBORO POLICE DEPARTMENT play an 

essential role in safeguarding the rights and freedoms of the citizens of STATESBORO; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, nearly 60,000 assaults against law enforcement officers are reported each year, resulting 

in approximately 16,000 injuries; and 
 
WHEREAS,  since the first recorded death in 1791, more than 20,000 law enforcement officers in the 

United States have made the ultimate sacrifice and been killed in the line of duty; and 
 
WHEREAS,  it is important that all citizens know and understand the duties, responsibilities, hazards 

and sacrifices of their law enforcement officers, and the members of our police 
department recognize their duty to serve the citizens of STATESBORO by safeguarding 
life and property, by protecting them against violence and disorder, and by protecting the 
innocent against deception and the weak against oppression or intimidation; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jan J. Moore, Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby proclaim the week 
of May 15 through May 21, 2015 as “NATIONAL POLICE WEEK” in the City of Statesboro; and, 
further extend appreciation to our Police Department’s personnel for the vital services they perform and 
their exemplary dedication to this community; and, call upon all citizens of STATESBORO to publicly 
salute the service of all law enforcement officers in our community and in communities across the 
nation. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, Jan J. Moore, Mayor of the City of Statesboro has hereunto set my 
hand and caused the Seal of the CITY OF STATESBORO to be affixed this the 17th DAY of MAY in 
the year 2016. 

 
 

 ____________________ 
Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

  



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

May 03, 2016 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on May 03, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. at the 
Statesboro High School Auditorium. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also present were Deputy 
City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Director 
of Public Works and Engineering Jason Boyles     
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Councilman Travis Chance. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  
 

A) Recognition of Police Officers who received annual awards during 2015 
B) Update on the current status of the Stormwater Management and Utility 

Program. 
C) Presentation of Employee Years of Service Award 
D)  Coastal Workforce Investment Board “Youth Summer Work Program” 
E) Update on America’s Best Community  

 
 
Interim Chief of Police Rob Bryan presented those employees who were selected to receive   
annual awards in 2015.  These individuals are chosen by a committee made up of officers and 
employees throughout the Statesboro Police Department.  The awards were as follows, Rookie of 
the Year, Officer Jennifer Strosnider, Detective of the Year, Detective Kevin Weatherly, 
Supervisor of the Year, Sergeant Jake Saxon, Support Person of the Year Communications 
Officer Charity Foy, Top Gun of the Year, Mike Chappell and Officer of the  Year, Advanced 
Patrol Officer, Kyle Briley. 
 
The Director of Stormwater Management, Marcos Trejo gave an update to Mayor and Council 
regarding the Stormwater Program which began in August of 2015.  One of our main focuses is   
creating awareness and Public Education for Stormwater.  We can correct the issues out there but 
we need the public’s help as to the location of these problem areas.  We have a maintenance 
program set up, although, during the winter months when we receive more rain, the maintenance 
work is put on hold to work on complaints from the public of immediate flood problems.    Since 
January 2016 Stormwater Management is fully staffed working at full capacity with one 
technician and four heavy equipment operators.  There are two Capital Improvement Projects 
being designed right now.  The first one is on Beasley Road with ditch erosion problems.  The 
second one is on South College Street at the Railroad tracks. A headwall needs to be put in due 
to erosion at the culvert. With the help of Director of Engineering and Public Works, along with 
City Engineer, we have been putting together an RFQ to get a Comprehensive Master Plan for 
Stormwater.          



 
 

 
Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant presented “Years of Service Awards” to Ken Deal, Lyn 
Dedge and Steve Hotchkiss for their 20 plus years of service with the City of Statesboro. 
 
Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant introduced Yvette Tippins with Paxin, LLC. This 
program is designed for young people ages 18-24 years, giving them work experience, building 
work ethics and helping them learn job related skills.  Paxin, LLC does time keeping, record 
keeping, payroll and liability insurance. A mandatory 40 hour Career Pathway Training Class is 
required before an individual can be placed in the work program. This class teaches independent 
living skills and being an effective employer with an emphasis on financial literacy.  Mayor 
Moore stated this is very exciting for the City as it will allow the City to participate with 10 
individuals to work in various departments within the City which will be paid by Paxin LLC.   
 
Mayor Moore added item 3(E) to the agenda which recognizes the City of Statesboro as finishing 
in the final 8 for “America’s Best Communities”. The presentation was held last week in 
Durham, North Carolina.   Bob Mikell stated they have 11 months to finish the engineering plans 
for the redevelopment of the “Blue Mile”. The competition is cream of the crop and we need to 
put our best foot forward and really distinguish ourselves from the rest of the competition.  
DSDA Director Allen Muldrew stated this is truly a community effort and will be part of the 
grading in the final round of competition.  Phyllis Thompson stated, in their next presentation, 
they will have to prove they used the $100,000.00 winnings from this past round, exactly as they 
had planned.  This competition started with over 350 entries which was roughly our size. We 
made the top fifty last year.  In January, we made the top fifteen and last week we made the top 
eight. The total winnings for the final choice in this competition are 3 million dollars for the 
community.  The final round of competition will be held in New York in 11 months   
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 04-19-2016 Council Minutes 
b) 04-19-2016 Executive Session Minutes 
c) 04-21-2016 Budget Retreat Minutes 

 
B) Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign a Power Easement 

for construction, operation and maintenance with the Georgia Power 
Company for the City/County Training Tower. 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event Permit 
a) BVT Enterprises Inc. – Semi-Professional Soccer Team 

 
Bob Mikell representing BVT Enterprises Inc. spoke in favor of the permit.  The alcohol served 
under this permit will be complementary.  It will only be available for those who are in the VIP 
box. The approval dates for the permit will be May 21st, June 3rd, June 11th, June 23 and June 25th 
2016.  This event will be held on Eagle Field located at 1226 Malecki Drive. 
 
Councilman Yawn inquired of City Attorney Alvin Leaphart if he needed to recuse himself from 
voting since he works for GSU.  City Attorney Alvin Leaphart stated he does not see any reason 
for Councilman Yawn to recuse himself from voting as GSU does not have a substantial interest 
in the special event permit submitted to the City of Statesboro. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve a Special Event 
Permit to BVT Enterprises Inc. for May 21st June 3rd June 11th June 23rd and June 25th. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Georgia Emergency Management 
Agency/Homeland Security (GEMA/HA) Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 
 
Emergency Management Agency Director Ted Winn and Deputy Director Ed Eckles presented 
an overview of the agreement and the impact it has on our community.  
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the Georgia 
Emergency Management Agency/Homeland Security (GEMA/HA) Statewide Mutual Aid and 
Assistance Agreement. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a “Sole Source” purchase to HD Supply Waterworks 
in the amount of $63,825.00 for Sensus water meters and transmitters to be paid from 
operating revenue  
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award a “Sole Source” 
purchase to HD Supply Waterworks in the amount of $63,825.00 for Sensus water meters and 
transmitters to be paid from operating revenue.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a “Sole Source” 12 month Lease/Purchase Agreement 
to Burnett Lime Company for a total obligation of $201,820.00 for the delivery and 
installation of a Cal-Flo Lime Slurry System and a “Sole Source” purchase of Cal-Flo 
liquid lime at a cost of $0.059 per liquid pound delivered to Statesboro Wastewater 
Treatment Plant. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to award a “Sole Source” 
12 month Lease/Purchase Agreement to Burnett Lime Company for a total obligation of 
$201,820.00 for the delivery and installation of a Cal-Flo Lime Slurry System and a “Sole 
Source” purchase of Cal-Flo liquid lime at a cost of $0.059 per liquid pound delivered to 



 
 

Statesboro Wastewater Treatment Plant. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for Major Street Repairs in the amount of 
$85,000.00 to Ellis Wood Contracting.  This project was budgeted under CIP number 
ENG-STS-30.  Submitted unit pricing will be utilized to bring the lowest submitted bid 
total of $97,660.00 to the recommended $85,000.00 contract total for this project. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to award a contract for 
Major Street Repairs in the amount of $85,000.00 to Ellis Wood Contracting.  This project was 
budgeted under CIP number ENG-STS-30.  Submitted unit pricing will be utilized to bring the 
lowest submitted bid total of $97,660.00 to the recommended $85,000.00 contract total for this 
project. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to set the Public Hearing for the FY2017 Budget for Thursday 
June 9, 2016 at 5:00 pm in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
 
Director of Finance Cindy West stated the FY2017 Public Hearing for the City of Statesboro 
Budget is set for Thursday, June 9, 2016 at 5:00 pm.  After some discussion the date and time 
was changed to Tuesday, June 7, 2016 at 10:00 am.  
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Riggs to set the Public Hearing for 
the FY2017 Budget for Tuesday June 7, 2016 at 10:00 am in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to appoint a voting delegate for the 2016 GMA Annual 
Convention at the Westin in Savannah 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Riggs to appoint Councilman Sam 
Lee Jones to be the voting delegate for the 2016 GMA Annual Convention at the Westin in 
Savannah. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to appoint a flag bearer for the “Flag of Parades” at the GMA 
Annual Convention at the Westin in Savannah 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Riggs to appoint Councilman Sam 
Lee Jones to be the flag bearer for the “Flag of Parades” GMA Annual Convention at the Westin 
in Savannah. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote 
 
Update on the City of Statesboro City Manager Search. 
 
Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant gave an update concerning the search for a new City 
Manager.  The search opened on March 11, 2016 and closed on April 15, 2016. He stated fifty 
seven applications have been submitted.  A questionnaire had been sent to the top 15 to 20 



 
 

candidates. Those questionnaires are due May 3, 2016.  After that the top 10 to 12 will be 
presented to Council by next week, Wednesday. Council will choose 4 to 6 candidates for 
interviews.  We are looking to do interviews the first week of June 2016. 
 
Other Business from City Council: None 
 
City Managers Comments: None 
 
Public Comments (General): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:30 am. 
 













































 

Central Services 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
DATE: 5-9-16 
Re:  Recommendation—Engineering Services/Natural Gas Pipeline Design 
 
The City of Statesboro issued a request for qualifications (RFQ) for design, construction plans 
and permitting services for the construction of a high-pressure natural gas pipeline. This project is 
budgeted in fiscal years 2016 and 2017 under CIP number NGD-2 in the total amount of 
$1,200,000.00. If approved, this engineering contract would be funded as a component of this 
complete construction project. This pipeline project will include the crossing of a railroad and 
river located on US 301 at the Ogeechee River at the boarder of Bulloch and Screven County. 
The pipeline will be approximately 5,000 feet in length and will replace an existing one that no 
longer provides adequate service. The RFQ submittals were evaluated by a four member 
evaluation team based on similar projects completed, experience and understanding of natural gas 
critical issues, experience with GDOT and the firm’s staff/qualifications. Three firms submitted 
RFQ responses and they are as follows: 
 
 Firm     Average Score 
 

1. AMEC Foster Wheeler  50       / 56 
2. Keck & Wood, Inc.   43.75  / 56 
3. SAPP Engineering   45       / 56 

 
We recommend the Council approve the Mayor to enter into negotiations and be approved to sign 
a contract with AMEC Foster Wheeler for engineering services for CIP number NGD-2. At the 
completion of the engineering design phase, the construction portion of this project will be sent 
out for sealed bids and will come to Council for approval. 
 
 





RESOLUTION 2016-20 
 

APPOINTING DARREN PRATHER TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
AVERITT CENTER FOR THE ARTS, INCORPORATED 

 
WHEREAS, Article V, Section 1 of the Bylaws of the Averitt Center for the Arts, 

Incorporated provides, in relevant part that the “Board of Directors shall consist of twelve (12) 
members to be selected as hereinafter provided.  One (1) Director shall be appointed by the 
Statesboro City Council.” 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to exercise the appointment power 
provided above; 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree and affirm that Darren Prather, Director of 
Central Services, has the background and character that would be helpful to the Averitt Center for 
the Arts, Incorporated Board in discharging its responsibilities; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 

Section 1.       That Darren Prather is hereby appointed to the Board of Directors of the 
Averitt Center for the Arts, Incorporated for the term on the Board of Directors that ends June 30, 
2017. 
 

Section 2. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of 
adoption 
 
       Adopted this 17th day of May, 2016 
        

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
        

____________________________________ 
       By:  Jan .J Moore, Mayor 
         
        

_____________________________________ 
       Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk    
 

 


	05-17-2016  Council Agenda
	05-2016 proclamation  Public Works
	05-2016 proclamation Police Week
	05-03-2016 Council minutes )
	05-2016 Workforce agreement
	05-2016 lease agreement
	05-2016  W-S Phase III I-16-16
	05-2016 Memo-Natural Gas Pipeline
	05-2016 auditing services
	05-2016-20 RESOLUTION  appointing Darren Prather to ACA (1)

